IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KATHLEEN DENISE WARREN, THOMAS GEORGE SECCHIARI, Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Responder SUPREME COURT CASE NO.:

APPELLATE CASE No.: 88-02884

MAR SS 1990

APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

9

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON JURISDICTION

MANUEL A. MACHIN, ESQUIRE 705 W. Azeele Street Tampa, Florida 33606 (813) 254-5468 Florida Bar Number 361372 Attorney for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal by Defendants/Appellees, Kathleen Denise warrenand Thomas George Secchiari, from the Second District Court of Appeal's reversal of the trial court's dismissal of the charge of keeping a house of ill fame in violation of Section 796.01, Florida Statutes (1987). State v. Warren, No. 88-02884 (Fla. 2d DCA, Jan. 19, 1990); Appendix A. The trial court originally ruled the statute unconstitutionally vague. The trial court specifically found the terms "ill fame", "prostitution" and "lewdness" to be vague and since those terms are among the elements of Section 796.01, the entire statute was struck down.

The State of Florida appealed the dismissal to the Second District Court of Appeal. The Appellate Court reversed and remanded the case and declared the statute was constitutional.. It should be noted that the <u>Hicks</u> decision is also pending discretionary review by this Court. <u>See State v. Hicks</u>, No. 88-02926 (Fla. 2d DCA, Feb. 21, 1990).

The reasoning of the Court in <u>Warren</u> was that Section 796.01 was valid because the Florida Supreme Court had upheld previous attacks on the statute on other grounds. The Court itself questioned the validity of the statute as to vagueness, but stated it would let the Florida Supreme Court decide the issue. <u>State v. Warren</u>, No. 88-02884, slip op. at 9 (Fla. 2d DCA, Jan. 19, 1990); A-9. However, the Appellate Court did not certify the question for a ruling from the Supreme Court.

On a Motion for Rehearing in <u>Marren</u>, which was denied, Appendix B, the Appellees maintained, as they continue to do here, that this issue was one of first impression because this is the first attack on the constitutionality of Section 796.01 for vagueness since the **United** States Supreme court articulated

the criteria for determining whether or not a statute is unconstitutionally vague in <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156, 96 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed.2d 110 (1972); <u>See Appendix C.</u> Of all the authority cited by the Court in <u>Warren</u>, only two (2) cases were decided after <u>Papachristou</u>. Neither of those cases specifically addressed the vagueness of Section 796.01. Both cases were decided on grounds other than the void for vagueness doctrine.

The term "ill fame" is **nowhere** defined in the Florida case law or statutes. Since the term "ill fame" is an essential element of the "keeping a house of ill fame" statute, it should be defined, if possible, in order to give a **person** of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what conduct is forbidden by the statute. <u>Papachristou</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Since the vagueness of Section 796.01 has yet to be addressed, and since the Appellate Court stated in its decision "it is preferable for us to expressly uphold the validity of the statute and _____ it the Supreme Court to review the issue" (Emphasis Added), the Supreme Court should exercise its discretion and review this issue over which it has jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeals in this case gives the Supreme Court discretionary jurisdiction on two (2) separate grounds:

1) statutory validity, and 2) constitutional construction. Since the Second District's decision drastically interpreted Section 796.01, Florida Statutes to the detriment of fundamental, constitutional rights, this Court should accept jurisdiction and rule on this issue which is of great public concern.

ARGIMENT I

THE SUPREME COURT HAS JURISDICTION BECAUSE
THE SECOND DISTRICT'S OPINION EXPRESSLY
DECLARED VALID FLORIDA STATUTE, SECTION 796.01 (1987)

The Florida Supreme Court is vested with discretionary authority to review a District Court's decision declaring a state statute valid. Art. V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i). The Supreme Court has the authority to hear the instant appeal on the ground that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision expressly declared valid the keeping a house of ill fame statute, Section 796.01 (1987).

This statute would have been struck down by the Second District Court of Appeal but for the Supreme Court's decisions upholding the statute on grounds other than vagueness. Of the cases cited, only Carlson v. State, 405 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1981) and Bell v. State, 289 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1973) were decided after the articulation of the void for vagueness doctrine by the United States Supreme Court in Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed.2d 110 (1972). Although none of the cases cited by the lower court addressed the vagueness of Section 796.01, the lower court declined to treat this new attack for vagueness as a case of first impression and relied on previous decisions upholding this statute on other grounds.

In its decision in State v. Warren, the Court stated:

We would affirm the trial court's decision concerning the unconstitutional vagueness of "ill fame" except for the several decisions of the Florida Supreme Court upholding or applying this statute over the last 120 years. In light of those cases, it is preferable for us to expressly uphold the validity of the statute and permit the Supreme Court to review this issue. State v. Warren, No. 88-02884, slip op, at 9 (Fla. 2d DCA, January 19, 1990); A-9.

The Court further suggested that the legislature should review this "timeworn" statute. Id. The questioning of the statute by the Appellate Court gives the Supreme Court further prodding to review this issue. Since the Second District Court of Appeal has expressly declared Section 796.01, Florida Statutes (1987), valid on its face and as applied, the Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction.

THE SUPREME COURT HAS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE SECOND DISTRICT'S OPINION EXPRESSLY CONSTRUED ME FLORIDA AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction in this case for the additional reason that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision expressly construes provisions of both the Florida and United States Constitutions. Art. V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii). In upholding the validity of Section 796.01, the District Court decided for the first time the constitutionality of the statute under the void for vagueness doctrine. In reversing the Trial Court's dismissal, the District Court impliedly ruled that the statute was not unconstitutionally vague, thereby construing the void for vagueness doctrine. This Court has jurisdiction because in reaching its decision, the Second District was required to 'explain, define or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provisions." Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So.2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958).

The Appellate Court's opinion clearly reveals that at the same time the Second District declared Section 796.01 valid, it also expressly doubted the constitutionality of the statute. The Court stated that "[a]lthough we have substantial doubt concerning the constitutionality of a statute which makes 'ill fame' an undefined essential element of a crime, we decline to invalidate the statute because the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly enforced it." (Emphasis added). State v. Warren, No. 88-02884, slip op. at 2 (Fla. 2d CCA, Jan. 19, 1990); A-2. However, contrary to the Second District's belief, no case cited by the Court has addressed the vagueness of Section 796.01.

REASONS WHY THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION

The Appellate Court questioned the constitutionality of the term "ill fame" because of vagueness. The law has been settled by the United States Supreme Court concerning the vagueness of state statutes. The law is clear that any statute is void for vagueness if it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what conduct is forbidden by the statute. Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed. 2d 110 (1972). United States v. Harriss, 347 U.S. 612, 74 S.Ct. 808, 98 L.Ed. 989 (1954); State v. Warren, No. 88-02884, slip op. at 7 (Fla 2d DCA Jan. 19, 1990); A-7. None of the cases or statutes cited by the Appellate Court defines the tenn "ill fame" in accordance with Papachristou.

Criminal statutes must be written with sufficient specificity so that citizens are given fair warning of the offending conduct, and law enforcement officers are prevented from engaging in arbitrary and erratic enforcement activity. Papachristou; Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88, 60 S.Ct. 736, 84 L.Ed. 1093 (1940); Ianzetta v. New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888 (1939).

The tenn "ill fame" is nowhere defined in Florida case law or statutes.

Nor is the term "ill fame" defined specifically in any of the cases cited by the Appellate court.

1 The holdings of those cases are based on common law interpretations and procedural aspects. The first and oldest case cited, Kinc

The cases cited by the Appellate court in reference to the tenn "ill fame" are: King v. State, 17 Fla. 183 (1879); Atkinson v. Powledge, 123 Fla. 389, 167 So. 4 (1936); State ex rel. Libtz v. Coleman, 130 Fla. 410, 177 So. 725 (1937); Campbell v. State, 149 Fla. 701, 6 So.2d 828 (1942); Atkinson v. State, 23 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1945); Franklin v. State, 257 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1971); Carlson v. State, 405 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1981); and Bell v. State, 289 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1973).

v. State, 17 Fla. 183 (1879), is challenged on grounds based in Florida's Declaration of Rights and not the United States Constitution as made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. Those archaic statutes cited by the Appellate Court were decided many years before the United States Supreme Court articulated the criteria for determining whether or not a statute is unconstitutionally vague in Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed. 2d. 110 (1972).

Neither of the cases cited which were decided after 1972² specifically challenge Section 796.01 of the Florida Statutes as being void for vagueness. In <u>Bell v. State</u>, 289 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1973), the Florida Supreme Court addressed the definitions of the terms "prostitution" and "lewdness" as applied to Section 828.21, Florida Statutes. The Court also discussed Section 796.07 as applied to Section 828.21, but it did not address Section 796.01 because it was not an issue in the controversy.

Additionally, in <u>Carlson v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1981), the Florida Supreme Court only addressed Section 796.01 in relation to Florida's RICO statute, ³ and it also decided a question of double jeopardy. The RICO statute was challenged on the grounds of being unconstitutionally vague, but Section 796.01 was not so challenged. Therefore, the petitioners' appeal remains a question of first impression in this jurisdiction, and it consequently remains a question of great importance to be decided by this Court.

²Carlson v. State, 405 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1981); <u>Bell v. State</u>, 289 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1973).

³Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act, Section 943.46-943.464. Fla. Stat. (1977).

CONCLUSION

The Second District Court of Appeal's opinion is the most recent decision upholding the validity and constitutionality of Florida's "keeping a house of ill fame" statute. The Second District has rendered at least two (2) other opinions within the last sixty (60) days based on the reasoning of State v. Warren, No. 88-02884 (Fla. 2d DCA, Jan. 19, 1990).4

Relying on the mandates of the Florida and the United States Supreme Court, the Second District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with controlling authority. Since the District Court's opinion expressly declares Section 796.01, Florida Statutes (1987) valid, and since it expressly construes the void for vagueness doctrine based on the Florida and United States Constitutions, the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction to decide this case and should exercise its discretion to review this issue.