#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KATHLEEN DENISE WARREN and THOMAS GEORGE SECCHIARI,

Petitioners,

Case No. 75,791

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

# JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID R. GEMMER
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 370541
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/cmd

#

#### ARGUMENT

This court has discretionary jurisdiction. Art, V § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. However, the statute has long been held to be valid by thir court, and there is no need to exercise juriediction merely to reaffirm precedent.

The etatute in question reads as follows:

Keeping house of ill fame. -- Whoever keeps a house of ill fame, resorted to for the purpose of prostitution or lewdness, is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

Section 796.01, Fla. Stat. (1987). Judge Coe's order holds, in relevant part:

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that this court hereby rules that Florida Statute 796.01, "Keeping House of Ill Fame" is unconstitutionally vague on its face.

This Court further finds that the terms "ill fame", "prostitution", and "lewdness" are unconstitutionally vague as used in this statute.

R58 .

The opinions in the second district held that only the term "ill fame" raised a question, but recognized this court's long-standing tradition upholding this statute.

This court has never had a problem enforcing this statute:

That a conviction may be had for operating or conducting a house of ill fame or a house known or notoriously reputed to be a resort of prostitutes or persons of lewd character is settled in this jurisdiction in the opinion and judgment in the case of King v. State, 17 Fla. 183. In that case, after setting forth some of the evidence that appeared in the record aa to character and reputation of the house there under consideration, this court said:

"Other evidence of the same character was given under like objections, rulings and exceptions. Not only the reputation of the house so informed against, but also the reputation of those

who visit it, ray be inquired into. It would be difficult to prove particular instances of the offense which gives charecter to such a house, in order to evict its keeper. It is this very character acquired by it as the resort of prortitutes and lewd persons that maker it criminal in the eye of the law. Having established a reputation among the citizens of the district, that reputation ray be proved in the same way as may the general character of an individual witness.

Atkinson v. Powledge, 167 So. 4, 5 (Fla. 1936). See also Lashley v. State, 67 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 1953); Powell v. State, 23 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 1945) (cases showing no difficulty in proving ill fame).

Thus, in <u>Atkinson</u> and the other cases, this court has had no difficulty in concluding that "ill fame" has a concrete definition, provable by evidence, and, therefore, not vague. The remaining words held to be vague in Judge Coe's order have also been examined by this court and found adequate:

The statute alleged to have been violated is section 5433, R.G.S., section 7576, C.G.L., and is as follows:

"Keeping house of ill-fame. -- Whoever keeps a house of ill-fame, resorted to for the purpose of prostitution or lewdness, shall be punished by imprisonment not exceeding one year."

So the charge is substantially in the language of the statute. The words "Prostitution" and "lewdness" each have a meaning so yell known that it is not necessary for their meaning to be stated in an information.

State ex rel. Libtz v. Coleman, 177 So. 725, 725 (Fla. 1937)
(emphasis added).

This court has also had occasion to examine all the essential elements of the statute:

It appears that there are three elements of the offense denounced by the statute [section 7576, C.G.L. 1927, predecessor to section 796.01] which must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt in order to substantiate conviction; namely, the ill fame of the place in

question, its use for prostitution or lewdness, and its maintenance by the defendant.

Campbell v. State, 6 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1942). No question of the constitutionality of the rtatute was raised, suggesting that this court saw no problems at that tire. Even when viewed in a constitutional context, this court raised no suggestion of vagueness. In Carlson v. State, 405 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1981), the court undertook a constitutional analysis of the elements of section 796.01, for purposes of applying the test of Blockburner V. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932) in a double jeopardy case. Even though constitutional issues were joined, again, the court found no constitutional infirmity for vagueness.

This court has also rejected all attacks on the use of the word "lewd" or "lewdness\*'in statutory provisions as being vague.

Bell v. State, 289 So.2d 388, 390 (Fla. 1973), and cases cited therein. The Bell decision rejected an attack on section 796.07(3)(a)'s prohibition against offering "to commit, or to commit, or to engage in, prostitution, lewdness or assignation" on the ground that "lewdness" was unconstitutionally vague. See also Law v. State, 355 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 1978) (rejecting attack on "lewdness" as being vague); Health Clubs. Inc. v. State ex rel. Eagan, 338 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

## CONCLUSION

This court should decline to take jurisdiction, and should adhere to its determination in <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 267 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1971), that the legislature is the proper forum for correcting any problem with this etatute.

However, if this court does take Jurisdiction, it should consolidate the matter with the companion case of State v. War
March 15, 1990), if the defendants in that case should decide to petition this court for review.